RECEIVED

May 23 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

Appeal from Spartanburg County Court of General Sessions
The Honorable R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

App. Case No. 2024-001359

State of South Carolina,.....Respondent,

v.

Herbert Bruce Gaddy,.....Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

WILLIAM G. YARBOROUGH, III

LAUREN CAROLE HOBBS

WGY Law

308 West Stone Avenue

Greenville, South Carolina 29609

(864) 331-1612 | F: 864-271-0711

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

- I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR BY ADMITTING PHOTOS AND RELATED TESTIMONY ABOUT A STOLEN ROLLBACK VEHICLE IN VIOLATION OF RULES 403 AND 404(b), SCRE.**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant Herbert Bruce Gaddy was indicted by the Spartanburg County grand jury for first-degree burglary and breaking into motor vehicles, in addition to other offenses not at issue at trial or for the purposes of this appeal. (R. pp. 327-330). Assistant Solicitor James Edward Hunter prosecuted the case. Appellant was represented by the undersigned counsel.

Appellant was tried by jury before the Honorable R. Keith Kelly on August 12 – 14, 2024. The jury ultimately found him guilty on both charges. (R. pp. 293 – 294). Judge Kelly imposed a twenty (20) year sentence for first-degree burglary and a concurrent five (5) year sentence for breaking into motor vehicles, with twenty-eight (28) months credit for time served. (R. pp. 321-326; p. 299).

A timely Notice of Appeal was filed with this Court on August 19, 2024. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The offenses charged were alleged to have occurred on or about May 6, 2022 at 351 Goldmine Road in Spartanburg County. (R. p. 9; pp. 327-330). The property spans over 4 acres and is located in a rural area of the county. (R. pp. 48 – 49). A married couple, Gail Trent and Lloyd Trent, live on the property with their biological granddaughter who they adopted. (R. p. 48; p. 49, lines 14-18).

Gail testified that at around midnight on May 6, 2022, she heard an unidentifiable noise while watching television in the living room by herself. (R. p. 49, lines 4-5). She then saw the front door of their home slowly start to open, which she at first thought was the wind. (R. p. 49, lines 7-8). Gail claimed that a man appeared in the doorway and entered her home while saying: "I saw your light on. Are you okay?" (R. p. 49, lines 8-10; p. 79, lines 15-20). Gail asked the man: "[W]ho are you — who are you?" to no reply before she screamed for her sleeping husband to get a gun and that a stranger was in the house. (R. p. 49, lines 10-13; p. 63). Gail denied that the man had merely stayed outside on the porch and had indeed taken two or three steps past their glass storm door into their home. (R. pp. 64-66; p. 50, lines 4-7; pp. 53-54). Gail also denied that the man had knocked on their door or that she had given him any indication of consent or signal to enter. (R. p. 63; p. 73).

The man was gone by the time her husband woke up and came into the room. (R. p. 70; p.138). Gail assumed the man left when she began screaming and did not see which way he went. (R. p. 62, lines 7-9; p. 63; p. 67; p. 69). Gail and her husband called police to the property after the man left. (R. p. 80). The couple did not report anything stolen or amiss on the property to the police that night nor was there any damage to the home's doors or windows. (R. p. 72; p. 78; p. 138; p. 165).

The police were called back out to the property the next day to report that the couple's rollback¹ was missing from one of their garages or sheds. (R. p. 55; p. 139). At that time, they also discovered that their son's inoperable 4-wheeler or "ATV" had been moved one-tenth of a mile from its usual place in a garage or shed to the top of their driveway.² (R. p. 55, lines 9-11; p. 56, lines 4-25; pp. 145-146; p. 163; pp. 307-308). The rollback was later found under strange circumstances³ in a wooded area not far the property after Lloyd received an anonymous, late-night call informing him of the rollback's location. (R. p. 81; pp.145-146; p. 148).⁴

Police were called out to the property for a third time that following Monday morning, May 9, 2022, when Llyod Trent drove his granddaughter to school and discovered that items inside the couple's Suburban had been moved around. (R. p. 57; pp. 309-313). Although the Suburban had not moved and was in its normal parking spot, the front seats had been rolled down, the sunroof was open, and the compartments had been rummaged through. (R. p. 57, lines 17-22; p. 58, lines 20-23; p. 59, lines 12-14; p. 61, lines 7-15; p. 74). Lloyd remarked that the seats were reclined in a way as if someone had been sleeping there. (R. p. 144; p. 164). Also found inside the Suburban was their grandson's baseball bat, which was usually kept in a garage along with other vehicles, golf carts, and sports equipment. (R. pp. 59-62). There was also a baseball hat belonging to Lloyd found inside the Suburban that was usually kept in the then-missing rollback. (R. p. 60, line 21—

¹ Gail defined a roll back as a vehicle used to haul a broken-down car. (R. p. 55, lines 6-9).

² Appellant was not tried for any offense relating to the roll back or four-wheeler.

³ The rollback was found near the residence of the couple's nephew, Todd. (R. pp. 161-162). Lloyd referred to Todd as a "bad boy" and "druggie" and wanted nothing to do with him. (R. p. 168). Gail balked at any suggestion that any member of their extended family or their drug problems had anything to do with the incident at the home. (R. p. 75).

⁴ Appellant was said to have been in jail on the charged offenses at this time. (R. p. 148).

p. 61, line 6).⁵ There were no signs of forced entry or damage to the Suburban, garage, etc. and nothing was reported missing. (R. p. 72; p. 78; p. 98).

Interestingly, the moving of the ATV, rollback, and the rummaging through the Suburban all went unnoticed by the couple and police during their own prior inspections of the property. (R. pp. 162-163). Gail and Lloyd maintained throughout their testimony that neither they, nor any family member could have moved the rollback or the ATV/4-wheeler and that they did not put these particular items in the Suburban on an earlier date. (R. p. 57, line 23—p. 58, line 2; p. 74). However, the Suburban was admittedly cluttered, and Gail had previously told investigators that her 18 grandchildren and children were in and out of that car. (R. p. 67; p. 74). Although the baseball bat being in the Suburban was presented as proof that someone had taken them from their usual spot and then put it in the Suburban, it was not an unusual place to find the baseball bat. Lloyd acknowledged they drove their grandchildren to school and baseball practice and baseball mitts and other gear were also found inside the car. (R. pp. 165-166).

Fingerprints taken from the home's front doors, handles, and from the interior did not match Appellant. (R. p. 131; p. 134; p. 129). The fingerprints lifted from the storm door came back to Michael Brad Bowers, the couple's daughter's ex-husband. (R. pp. 135-137). Of the prints lifted from the Suburban, one partial print of the hypothenar part⁶ of a palm found on the exterior door matched prints taken from the Appellant in an unrelated 2018 investigation. (R. p. 47; pp.122-123;

⁵ Gail did not report seeing the man who broke into their house the night before with a baseball bat or a baseball hat. (R. p. 82, lines 11-16).

⁶ The hypothenar part of the palm is the fleshy muscular region of the palm. Marilyn Roman, a fingerprint examiner for the Spartanburg County Sheriff, concurred that the part of the palm and its location on the side of the Suburban was consistent with a person stumbling into the door of the Suburban. (R. p. 131).

pp. 301-305; pp. 314-315). Appellant's fingerprints did not match any prints from the baseball bat, hat, or from other parts of the Suburban or any items inside. (R. pp. 127-128; p. 97; pp. 100-101; pp. 130-131).

Appellant was interviewed on May 19, 2022 by Investigator Crow. (R. p. 177). Appellant waived his *Miranda* rights and spoke with investigators but refused to write out his own statement.

At trial Investigator Crow summarized what Appellant had told him:

Mr. Gaddy advised me that he was on drugs that night. He wandered onto the property not knowing exactly where was....[H]e walked up to the residence and opened the door....[H]e saw a lady who was not coming to the door for him. So, he stepped inside. And that's when the lady started freaking out — in his terms—and yelling. And he advised that spooked him and he left.

(R. p. 186, lines 12-22). In regard to the Suburban, Appellant was said to have told Investigator Crow that "he was high on drugs and didn't remember a whole lot, but he said that he believed that he went into the car and fell asleep." (R. p. 186, line 23—p. 187, line 4). The interview was not recorded.

Appellant was arrested for first-degree burglary and breaking and entering a motor vehicle as a result of the fingerprint on the Suburban's door as well as his interview with Crow. He was not charged with any offense relating to the ATV/4wheeler or the rollback.⁷

⁷ Appellant objected to pictures of the rollback and related testimony on the basis that it was confusing to the jury and as a separate, uncharged criminal act, and its probative value was substantially outweighed by unfair prejudice under Rule 403, SCRE. (R. pp. 147-157; pp. 181-185; pp. 316-319). The Court admitted the pictures and related testimony but excluded any testimony about the short distance between Appellant's house and where the rollback was found, as well as explicit testimony suggesting that Appellant must have stolen the rollback. (R. pp. 155-156). Appellant subsequently renewed his objections to this evidence as well as moved for a mistrial, all of which were denied. (R. pp. 181-185). The jury was instructed that Gaddy was not charged with the theft of the rollback, but the jury was not instructed to not consider this evidence. (R. p. 186, lines 2-5).

Whether the man Gail saw actually entered her home became a significant issue at trial and there was great contention regarding Gail's memory and the specific layout of the house. For example, Gail's trial testimony was inconsistent with her original statements to police as to where she saw the man — on the welcome mat outside on the porch verses inside on the entryway rug. (R. p. 62, line 19–p. 63, line 1; p. 64, lines 17-20; pp. 82-83). Additionally, Gail had been struggling with insomnia since 1997 and had been prescribed sleeping medication but denied telling police that she had taken her medication on the night of May 6, 2022. (R. pp. 65 – 66; p. 69; p. 164). Gail also denied falling sleep on the couch at the time of burglary. (R. pp. 65 – 66). When confronted with these inconsistencies, Gail acknowledged that all of these details were in the police report but maintained that the police report could not be correct. (R. p. 66). In regard to the reliability of Gail's recollection, it also noteworthy that in neither her prior police statement nor at trial, did Gail describe the race, physical features, etc. of the man she saw that night. (R. p. 164). Gail also did not pick Appellant out of a lineup, nor did she make an official formal identification of Appellant as the man she saw on the record before the jury at trial.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The decision to admit or exclude evidence or testimony is within the trial court's sound discretion and will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. *E.g.*, *Mizell v. Glover*, 351 S.C. 392, 570 S.E.2d 176 (2002); *State v. Myers*, 359 S.C. 40, 596 S.E.2d 488 (2004). An abuse of discretion is a ruling based on an error of law or a factual conclusion that is without evidentiary support. *E.g.*, *State v. Johnson*, 410 S.C. 10, 763 S.E.2d 36 (Ct. App. 2014). On review, our appellate courts generally will decline to set aside a conviction due to insubstantial errors not affecting the result. *State v. Black*, 400 S.C. 10, 27, 732 S.E.2d 880, 890 (2012). “In applying the harmless error rule, the court must be able to declare the error had little, if any, likelihood of having changed the result of the trial and the court must be able to declare such belief beyond a reasonable doubt.” *State v. Spears*, 403 S.C. 247, 258-59, 742 S.E.2d 878, 884 (Ct. App. 2013). This determination considers the entire record. *See e.g.*, *State v. Brooks*, 341 S.C. 57, 62, 533 S.C. 325, 328 (2000).

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR BY ADMITTING PHOTOS AND RELATED TESTIMONY ABOUT A STOLEN ROLLBACK VEHICLE, IN VIOLATION OF RULES 403 AND 404(b), SCRE.

At trial, the State argued the rollback evidence was admissible because the missing rollback tied Appellant to the breaking and entering of the Suburban charge through the baseball hat found inside. Because the baseball hat found inside the Suburban was typically kept inside the rollback, the resulting inescapable implication is that Appellant must have stolen the missing rollback. The State used the link between the rollback and Suburban to prove the intent element of first-degree burglary as well as the breaking and entering motor vehicle charge, in that Appellant went searching for other things to steal, *i.e.*, the rollback and items inside the car, after Gail discovered him and therefore, he indeed intended to commit a crime when he entered the home, as opposed to an intoxicated mistake. (R. pp. 152-154).

The State was ultimately using the rollback evidence as improper character evidence as uncharged other bad acts under Rule 404(b), SCRE. Evidence of prior/other bad acts has been limited to established and codified exceptions and is strictly scrutinized before it is admitted due “to the inevitable tendency” “to raise a legally spurious presumption of guilt” in the jurors’ minds. *State v. Lyle*, 125 S.C. 406, 412, 118 S.E. 803, 807 (1923). Before considering whether one of the exceptions is applicable, a prior bad act must first be established by clear and convincing evidence. *See State v. Weaverling*, 337 S.C. 460, 468, 523 S.E.2d 787, 791 (Ct. App. 1999). Prior/other bad acts that are proven by clear and convincing evidence may be used to prove: (1) motive; (2) intent; (3) absence of mistake or accident; (4) a common scheme or plan; (5) the identity of the person charged with the commission of the crime tried; and *res gestae*. *Lyle*, 125 S.C. at 416, 118 S.E. at 807; Rule 404(b), SCRE. For any of these exceptions, the bad act must be relevant to prove the

crime on trial; there must be some legal connection between the crime charged and bad act more than just a general similarity; there must be a close degree of similarity or a connection between them. *State v. Carter*, 323 S.C. 465, 467, 476 S.E.2d 916, 917-18 (1993). Even if the bad act evidence meets all of the aforementioned, it will be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. *State v. King*, 424 S.C. 188, 200, 818 S.E.2d 204, 210, fn. 6 (2018). Unfair prejudice is the undue tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis, such as an emotional one. *State v. Cheeseboro*, 346 S.C. 526, 547, 552 S.E.2d 300, 311 (2001). This Court has acknowledged that determining the admissibility of a prior bad act is difficult. *Carter*, 323 S.C. at 469, 476 S.E.2d at 918-919. It is for this reason “*Lyle* is intended only to provide an exception to the general rule of inadmissibility”, and thus, ““if the court does not clearly perceive the connection between the extraneous criminal transaction and the crime charged, that is, its logical relevancy, the accused should be given the benefit of the doubt, and the evidence should be rejected.”” *Id.* at 919 (quoting *Lyle, supra*).

The trial court's admission of this evidence was improper in several different respects. First, there was not clear and convincing evidence to prove that Appellant was the person who took the rollback and stashed it away in the woods. *See Lyle*, 125 S.C. at 416, 118 S.E. at 807; Rule 404(b). *See State v. Stokes*, 381 S.C. 390, 404, 673 S.E.2d 434, 441, fn. 14 (2009) (“Clear and convincing’ evidence is an intermediate degree of proof ‘which will produce in the mind of the trier of facts a firm belief as to the allegations sought to be established.’”). Proving that a separate, uncharged act occurred under Rule 404(b) requires clear and convincing evidence, a showing far more than indication or speculation that was presented here. *See State v. Dubose*, 288 S.C. 226, 341 S.E.2d 785 (1986). *See also Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 186, 810 S.E.2d 836, 842 (2018) (trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to testimony that the defendant stole the handgun used in the

crime charged during a prior burglary because there was no proof the defendant committed the burglary); *State v. Conyers*, 286 S.C. 276, 233 S.E.2d 95 (1997) (holding the defendant's poisoning of her first husband was inadmissible at trial for her second husband's murder with the only evidence being arsenic as her first husband's cause of death and the defendant was the life insurance beneficiary even though there was evidence of the defendant's other victims by the same means); *State v. Smith*, 300 S.C. 216, 387 S.E.2d 245 (1989) (holding evidence of a homicide was not clear and convincing where only circumstantial evidence raised the suspicion the defendant committed it and no evidence established he was at the scene or wrote the note found near the body).

Here, the circumstances in this case to link Appellant to the rollback are insufficient given the lack of any forensic or direct evidence that he took the rollback. There was also a wealth of testimony regarding the number of other people that had access to the property, the rollback, their garages/sheds etc. and the possibility that they were somehow involved with this incident, including the 18 grandchildren and nearby extended family. In addition to the evidence linking the couple's ex son-in-law and cousin to this incident, there were strange circumstances lending itself to the possibility that someone other than Appellant moved the rollback and other vehicles/items. For instance, it is peculiar that neither the Trents nor the police noticed the rollback missing when the property was inspected after Gail called them on the night of burglary. Also notable was that Gail supposedly heard the sound of a vehicle (*i.e.*, the rollback) go up the driveway 45 minutes after the last police officer left that night, yet they did not call the police to come back out. (R. p. 62, lines 10-18). Even more peculiar was the anonymous phone call Lloyd supposedly received regarding where the missing rollback was located at a time when Appellant was detained.

Further, the admission of the rollback evidence was reversible error also because the little probative value of this evidence was substantially outweighed by unfair prejudice and confusion of the issues as this was uncharged criminal conduct. *See* Rule 403, SCRE. First, although the State's theory was that the rollback linked Appellant to the Suburban which supplied the intent element of the burglary charge, the probative value of the rollback evidence is nonetheless minimal given the speculative and tenuous evidence linking the Appellant to the missing rollback let alone the other aspects of the case. The probative value of the rollback evidence is nonetheless substantially outweighed by undue prejudice because there is no other way for the jury to interpret this evidence as anything other than propensity evidence. The implication that Appellant stole the rollback inevitably invites the jury to conclude that because he committed that crime, he must have intended to steal something when he crossed the threshold into the couple's home and Suburban. The prejudice of the rollback evidence is compounded when considering that there is otherwise a lack of sufficient evidence to prove that Appellant the requisite intent for first-degree burglary and breaking and entering motor vehicles. The circumstances of this case, without the improper implication of the stolen rollback, equally lend themselves to a situation where there is no requisite intent for the crimes charged. Indeed, according to Appellant's supposed statement to police as well as other evidence in this case, an alternative scenario was as equally plausible: an intoxicated, confused man stumbled onto the property where he may or may not have mistakenly interpreted Gail's behavior as permission to enter her house and he then stumbled into the garage, bumped into the Suburban, and needed a place to sleep.

Moreover, this error was not rectified by the limiting instruction informing the jury that Appellant was not charged with the stolen rollback. The jury still improperly permitted to consider

the rollback evidence and without any limitation for what purpose. Therefore, the trial court committed reversible error by admitting the rollback evidence.

CONCLUSION

In light of the foregoing, the Appellant respectfully urges this Court to vacate Appellant's convictions and sentence and remand for a new trial.