RECEIVED

May 28 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Spartanburg County
The Honorable R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

HERBERT BRUCE GADDY,

Appellant.

APPELLATE CASE NO 2024-001359

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOSHUA A. EDWARDS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

BARRY J. BARNETTE
Solicitor, Seventh Judicial Circuit

180 Magnolia Street
Spartanburg, SC 29306
(864) 596-2575

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

The State presented evidence that Gaddy unlawfully entered a residence and vehicle, but Gaddy claimed he had no criminal intent. On the same night of the break-ins, the victims' truck was stolen from their property and items from the truck were discovered inside the burgled vehicle. Was evidence of the theft admissible?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Spartanburg County grand jury indicted Appellant Herbert Gaddy for first-degree burglary and breaking into a motor vehicle. Gaddy proceeded to jury trial on August 12–14, 2024, before the Honorable R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge. He was convicted as charged and sentenced to concurrent terms of 20 and 5 years' incarceration. This direct appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Gail Trent testified she was at home watching TV at around midnight on a Friday night. R.p.49, 57. She heard a noise at the front door and the door began to open. R.p.49. She saw a stranger entering her home. R.49. She explained there is a storm door outside her front door, and the person would have had to open the storm door before opening the front door. R.p.50–52. The man came two or three steps into her home. R.p.54. She screamed for her husband and the man fled. R.p.138. She called the police and they responded. Ms. Trent testified she did not know Mr. Gaddy and did not give him permission to enter her home. R.p.54. She heard a vehicle in the driveway about 45 minutes after the last officer left. R.p.62.

The next day, Mr. Trent noticed his rollback truck was missing. R.p.55. The truck was not in its normal spot by the detached garage. R.p.139. He called the police back out to the property. The Trents further discovered their son's four-wheeler had been moved to a different spot on the property, closer to the road. R.p.56. The four-wheeler was not in working condition at the time, so it could not have been driven to the new spot. R.p.57. Mr. Trent later received an anonymous call informing him that his rollback truck was parked in the woods near Mr. Gaddy's house. R.p.145–49.

On Monday morning, Ms. Trent went to take their daughter to school in their Chevy Suburban and discovered the car had been ransacked. R.p.57. The seats had been laid all the way back and a baseball bat was in the back seat. R.p.57. The baseball bat had been moved from its normal spot in the garage. R.p.59, 141. In that same garage, there were tools scattered on the hood of Mr. Trent's 1955 Chevy Bel Air. R.p.143–44. There was a ball cap in the Suburban that was normally kept in the rollback truck, which was usually parked next to the same garage. R.p.60–61.

Police recovered Gaddy's fingerprint near the driver's door handle of the Suburban. R.p.91, 122. They interviewed him and Gaddy claimed he was "on drugs" and "wandered onto the property not knowing exactly where he was." R.p.186. He admitted he walked into the Trent home but left when Ms. Trent "started freaking out." R.p.186-87. He told police he didn't remember much, but thought he slept in the Suburban. R.p.187.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion. State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006). An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law. Id. The appellate court may affirm on any ground appearing in the record. Rule 220(c), SCACR.

ARGUMENT

In this prosecution for burglary and breaking into a motor vehicle, evidence of Gaddy's contemporaneous theft of a rollback truck was admissible to prove res gestae and criminal intent.

Evidence about the theft of the rollback truck was admissible as res gestae and to show criminal intent. Testimony regarding the rollback truck was not improper character evidence; it was not admitted to show Gaddy's evil character or propensity to commit crimes. See State v. Perry, 430 S.C. 24, 29, 842 S.E.2d 654, 657 (2020). Rather, it was directly relevant to what happened on the night of the burglary and automobile break-in because that is when the rollback truck went missing. This Court should affirm.

As an initial matter, this issue is not preserved for review. Early in the State's case, Gaddy failed to object to Ms. Trent's testimony that the rollback truck went missing on the same night Gaddy burglarized her home and broke into another vehicle. R.p.55. The rollback truck came up again during Mr. Trent's testimony. R.p.139. This time, Gaddy objected that the State should not be allowed to "discuss" the rollback truck because Gaddy had not been charged with stealing it. R.p.149. After argument, the court noted the jury had already heard evidence about the truck, but sustained Gaddy's objection, ruling the State would not be allowed to state that Gaddy "stole" the truck. R.p.156. For the reasons argued below, this ruling was erroneous. Later, defense counsel again objected when an officer testified he asked Gaddy about the rollback, and the court instructed the State not to "talk about the rollback" because Gaddy had not been charged with stealing it. R.p.184. Finally, during in camera discussion about what evidence the State would be able to discuss during closing arguments, the trial court acknowledged there was evidence in the record about the missing rollback and ruled the State could "talk about it just a little bit, that it went missing, but that's it." R.p.234.

This issue is not preserved for review because Gaddy did not object at the first opportunity. See State v. Sullivan, 310 S.C. 311, 314, 426 S.E.2d 766, 768 (1993) (“To preserve an issue for appellate review, an appellant must object at his first opportunity.”). Further, the trial court effectively sustained Gaddy’s objections, instructing the State not to “talk about” the rollback truck, and Gaddy greatly benefitted from this erroneous ruling. On appeal, Gaddy argues the State did not prove by clear and convincing evidence that he stole the rollback, but he did not object on this basis at trial. Rather, his argument under Rule 403 was that the rollback should not be discussed because Gaddy wasn’t charged with stealing it. See State v. Nichols, 325 S.C. 111, 120, 481 S.E.2d 118, 123 (1997) (explaining an issue may not be raised for the first time on appeal and must have been raised on the same specific ground to the trial judge).

Regardless, evidence about the theft of the rollback truck was admissible *res gestae* and intent evidence. That Gaddy was not on trial for stealing the rollback had no bearing on its admissibility. 404(b) evidence always involves uncharged acts. If the State could only refer to crimes for which a defendant is currently on trial, there would be no need for the rule.

The Supreme Court explained the *res gestae* rule in State v. Johnson:

One of the accepted bases for the admissibility of evidence of other crimes arises when such evidence furnishes part of the context of the crime or is necessary to a full presentation of the case, or is so intimately connected with and explanatory of the crime charged against the defendant and is so much a part of the setting of the case and its environment that its proof is appropriate in order to complete the story of the crime on trial by proving its immediate context or the *res gestae* or the uncharged offense is so linked together in point of time and circumstances with the crime charged that one cannot be fully shown without proving the other and is thus part of the *res gestae* of the crime charged. And where evidence is admissible to provide this full presentation of the offense, there is no reason to fragmentize the event under inquiry by suppressing parts of the *res gestae*.

State v. Johnson, 439 S.C. 331, 341–42, 887 S.E.2d 127, 132 (2023) (cleaned up). It is important that the temporal proximity of the prior bad act be closely related to the charged crime. Id.

Evidence regarding the stolen rollback could not be separated from the remainder of the case. All of these events happened on the same night. The evidence showed a ball cap was contemporaneously removed from the rollback truck and left in the ransacked Suburban. Gaddy's fingerprint was recovered from the Suburban and he was on trial for breaking into that vehicle. The rollback was ultimately discovered in the woods near Gaddy's house. Evidence that he entered and ultimately drove away in the rollback truck was directly relevant to show he broke into the Suburban and was admissible as *res gestae*.

Further, the theft of the rollback tended to prove Gaddy had the intent to commit a crime when he entered the Suburban and the Trent home. See State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803, 810 (1923) (in forgery prosecution, explaining “[i]ntent to defraud is of the essence of the crime, and previous offenses of a similar character by the same person may be proved to show such intent”). Gaddy admitted to entering the Suburban and the Trent home, and his entire defense at trial was that he did not have the intent to commit a crime. Thus, evidence about the theft of the rollback was highly probative because it involved the central issue in the case. Id. (admissibility depends in part on “whether such evidence may be considered reasonably necessary in the light of all the facts of the particular case to accomplish the purpose for which it is offered”). Evidence about the rollback truck was not cumulative, was not entered to show criminal propensity, and was not unfairly prejudicial to Gaddy.

Finally, Gaddy cannot show prejudice. The testimony in question was cumulative to previous, unobjected-to testimony that the rollback went missing on the same night the house and Suburban were broken into. Defense counsel later asked a witness again about a police report referencing the rollback. R.p.192–93. Further, Gaddy's objections were essentially sustained by the trial court, who limited the testimony throughout. The fact that Ms. Trent's

testimony regarding the rollback was admitted (and thus proper ground for argument) was due to Gaddy's failure to object to her testimony. As argued above, all of the testimony concerning the rollback was admissible, and the trial court's ruling limiting the testimony was erroneous. However, the trial court gave a limiting instruction emphasizing that Gaddy was not charged with stealing the rollback. R.p.186. Curative instructions are generally presumed to cure trial errors. See State v. Young, 420 S.C. 608, 623, 803 S.E.2d 888, 896 (Ct. App. 2017). Finally, Gaddy admitted to entering both the Suburban and the Trent home but claimed he had no criminal intent. The jury rightly rejected this non-credible testimony. Evidence about the rollback did not change the result of trial. See State v. Workman, 443 S.C. 369, 378, 905 S.E.2d 119, 123 (2024) (explaining error is harmless when it had "little, if any, likelihood of having changed the result of the trial"). This Court should affirm.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the convictions and sentences of the lower court should be affirmed.